I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The Petitioner is Graham Contracting, Ltd. (Graham). 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Graham seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision 

filed on May 30, 2023, a copy of which is attached in the 

Appendix at A-1 through A-14 ( the "Decision"). This Petition is 

timely filed because Graham filed a motion for reconsideration 

on June 16, 2023, and an order denying the motion for 

reconsideration was entered on August 1, 2023. A copy of the 

order denying reconsideration is in the Appendix at A-15. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Issue 1. Whether protests of the actions of persons other 

than the contractually defined "Engineer" are required under 

Standard Specification Section 1-04.5. In direct contradiction to 

the language of the Washington State Department of 

Transportation ("WSDOT") Standard Specifications, the Court 

of Appeals ruled that under Standard Specification Section 1-

04.5 the Contractor ("Graham") was obligated to protest actions 
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of persons other than the contractually defined "Engineer." There 

is significant public interest as to when notice of protest is 

required to be given under the widely used WSDOT Standard 

Specifications. No Washington appellate court interpreting the 

Standard Specifications has ever before ruled that notice of 

protest under Section 1-04.5 was required in response to the 

actions of anyone other than the "Engineer." By so holding, the 

Court of Appeals strayed dramatically from prior Supreme Court 

and Court of Appeals precedent by, in effect, rewriting the 

parties' contract to require contractors to protest under Section 

1-04.5 in response to the actions of persons other than the 

contractually defined "Engineer." 

The Supreme Court should accept review so that it can 

provide a definitive ruling as to whether protests of the actions 

of persons other than the "Engineer" are required under Standard 

Specification Section 1-04.5. 

Issue 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by refusing to 

consider all evidence that was considered by the trial court with 
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respect to Graham's motion for reconsideration of the trial 

court's order granting summary judgment. The Court of 

Appeals' decision conflicts with recent appellate decisions that 

hold, with respect to a motion for summary judgment, that an 

appellate court should consider all evidence presented to the trial 

court. 

Issue 3. Whether the award of attorney fees by the Court of 

Appeals was premature where no determination can yet be made 

that Graham has "recovered nothing" in this action. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The City of Federal Way (the "City") hired Graham to 

serve as the general contractor for the Pacific Highway South 

HOV Lanes South Phase V Project (the "Project") pursuant to a 

Public Works Contract executed on August 25, 2016 (the 

"Contract"). 

The Contract incorporated the 2016 edition of the 

WSDOT Standard Specifications. The Contract also separately 

provided for the administration of the contract as follows: 

- 3 -



The Contractor's performance under this contract will 

be monitored and reviewed by John Mulkey, P.E., 

Street Systems Project Engineer. Questions by the 

Contractor regarding interpretation of the terms, 

provisions and requirements of this contract shall be 

addressed to John Mulkey, P.E., Street System Project 

Engineer, for response. 

CP 292. 

The Engineer 1s a defined term m the Standard 

Specifications: 

1-01.3 Definitions 

Engineer- The Contracting Agency's representative 

who directly supervises the engineering and 

administration of a construction Contract. 

Project Engineer - Same as Engineer. 

CP 138. 

The City continued to identify Mulkey as the 

Engineer/Project Engineer both before and after construction of 

the Project had commenced. Mulkey was listed as the Project 

Engineer on contact lists (CP 717), on reporting surveys to the 

U.S. Census Bureau (CP 721), and in meeting minutes (CP 715). 
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Actions that could only be taken by the Project Engineer under 

the Contract, such as issuing a formal notice to proceed, were 

taken by Mulkey. CP 719. And to avoid all doubt, at the 

commencement of the project, Mulkey himself prepared an 

organizational chart with his name, along with his Project 

Engineer title, situated above that of Ken Gunther at KPG. 1 

CP 1018. 

John Mullee',' 

Prnjecl i::nein�e, 

Cf-W 

., • Ken G u11th�r 

Flesldent Env.ln�er 

l<PG 

RoryWoDiily 

Lead Inspector 

KPG 

"--------

The identity of the Engineer is of enormous significance 

under the Standard Specifications because Section 1-04.5 

provides: 

1 KPG was an outside consultant to the City. 
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By not protesting as this section provides, the 

Contractor also waives any additional entitlement 

and accepts from the Engineer any written or oral 

order (including directions, instructions, 

interpretations, and determinations). 

If in disagreement with anything required in a change 

order, another written order, or an oral order from the 

Engineer, including any direction, instruction, 

interpretation, or determination by the Engineer, the 

Contractor shall: 

1. Immediately give a signed written notice of 

protest to the Project Engineer. .. 

CP 140 (emphasis added). 

When a City-caused delay arose on the Project related to 

the design of a Joint Utility Trench (WT), Graham notified 

Mulkey, the Project Engineer, of design issues and related delays 

and cost impacts on November 3, 2016. CP 163-165. Mulkey 

never responded to Graham's notice of delay nor did he issue any 

direction or order to Graham. 

Graham continued to provide notice to Mulkey of delays 

and associated costs. Approximately nine months later, in a 

footnote to a letter dated July 7, 2017, the City for the first time 
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took the position that Gunther, an employee of KPG, was the 

Project Engineer. CP 1004. Before this letter, the City had 

consistently referred to Mulkey as the Project Engineer and 

Gunther as the Resident Engineer. See Organizational Chart, 

infra, at 5; CP 1018; see also CP 715 (meeting minutes); CP 717 

( contact list). In the footnote to the letter, the City stated the 

following: 

Graham was informed by the City at the Partnering 
Meeting in September, 2016 that KPG would act as 
the Engineer for this Project in collaboration with 
City personnel, and KPG has been acting in that role 
from the beginning of the Project - as Graham is 
more than aware. 

CP 1004. 

Every Graham representative m attendance at the 

September 2016 meeting has testified that no such appointment 

of Gunther was made at this meeting. CP 696-698; CP 700-702; 

CP 703-705; CP 731-732; CP 733-737. Furthermore, the City's 

own documents prepared in relation to and after this meeting do 

not support the City's position, as they continue to refer to 

Mulkey as the Project Engineer and Gunther as his subordinate, 
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the Resident Engineer. The City-prepared meeting minutes do 

not discuss this supposed appointment, and the Project Contact 

list distributed after the meeting identified Mulkey as the Project 

Engineer. CP 715-717; see also CP 720; see also Organizational 

Chart, infra, at 5 (prepared by Mulkey shortly after the meeting); 

CP 1018. 

Graham responded to the City's letter on July 14, 2017, 

and provided evidence that Mulkey had been acting as the 

"Project Engineer," Gunther as Mulkey's subordinate with the 

title "Resident Engineer," and that Graham had never been 

previously informed that Gunther was allegedly the Project 

Engineer. CP 1008-09. Graham advised that if the City wanted 

to change this arrangement, it should issue a change order. 

CP 1009. The City never did so. Id.; Resp't's Br. 44 n.1. 

However, out of an abundance of caution, Graham began 

protesting the actions of persons other than Mulkey, even though 

the City refused to officially replace him as Project Engineer. See 

CP 1104-1920. 
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As a result of the City's refusal to equitably compensate 

Graham for the WT issue and for other damages, Graham timely 

made claims under the Contract. The City denied Graham's 

claims and Graham timely commenced this lawsuit. CP 1. 

The City moved for partial summary judgment on the 

grounds that Graham failed to timely protest Gunther's 

November 8, 2016 response to Graham's notice of delay related 

to the WT. CP 15-39. The trial court granted the City's motion, 

even though the trial court also determined that there were 

"material issues of fact as to whether John Mulkey, Ken 

Gunther, or others" were the Project Engineer as of 

November of 2016. CP 1053. 

In so holding, the trial court decided that Graham was 

obligated to protest actions of persons other than the Project 

Engineer, including, in this case, actions of an outside third-party 

consultant. CP 1051-1054. 

Graham moved for reconsideration on multiple grounds, 

including that the trial court's interpretation of 1-04.5 was wrong 
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and, even if correct, that Graham had timely protested the actions 

of the City with respect to many claims that the trial court had 

dismissed in its order. CP 1061-1079. In support of this latter 

portion of its motion, Graham submitted declarations and 

exhibits which demonstrated that Graham had timely protested 

City actions and that the trial court had erred in dismissing 

certain of Graham's claims, even if the Court was correct that 

Graham was required to protest the actions of persons other than 

the Project Engineer. Evidence of Graham's timely protests was 

contained in the declarations and associated exhibits of Richard 

Skalbania (CP 1081-92), Seth Crites (CP 1093-1103), and Ed 

Schepp (CP 1104-1920). The court explicitly considered this 

evidence: 

The Court has heard and considered ... the pleadings 
and files contained in this matter, including but not 
limited to the following: ... 

14. Declaration of Richard Skalbania in 
support of Graham's Motion for 
Reconsideration; (Dkt. 71) 
15. Declaration of Seth Crites in support of 
Graham's Motion for Reconsideration; (Dkt. 
72) 
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16. Declaration of Ed Schepp in support of 
Graham's Motion for Reconsideration; . . .  

CP 2038 (emphasis added). 

Despite considering this evidence, the trial court denied 

the substance of Graham's motion for reconsideration. CP 203 7-

2041. 

On appeal, the Court of Appeals wrongly interpreted 1-

04.5 to require protests by a Contractor like Graham of actions 

of persons other than the Project Engineer. The Court of Appeals 

also refused to consider evidence that the trial court had 

considered in ruling on Graham's motion for reconsideration. 

Op. at 8 n.6. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW TO 
CLARIFY WHEN CONTRACTORS MUST 
PROTEST TO A VOID WAIVER UNDER THE 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS. 

The Court of Appeals adopted the novel but incorrect 

position that the Standard Specifications require a Contractor to 

protest actions of not just the Project Engineer/Engineer but the 
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actions of anyone acting on behalf of the City to avoid claim 

waiver under 1-04.5. Op. at 11. 

The penalty for the Contractor's failure to protest under 1-

04. 5 is enormous, as "a change order that is not protested as 

provided in this Section shall be full payment and final settlement 

of all claims for Contract time and for all costs of any kind, 

including costs of delays, related to any Work either covered or 

affected by the change." CP 140. 

This structure, with the attendant risk that the Contractor 

could be forced to work without compensation because of its 

failure to protest, is mitigated in one crucial way: it is only the 

actions of the "capital 'E' Engineer" (also defined as Project 

Engineer) that a Contractor must protest. Section 1-04. 5 

provides: 

By not protesting as this section provides, the 

Contractor also waives any additional entitlement 

and accepts from the Engineer any written or oral 

order (including directions, instructions, 

interpretations, and determinations). 
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If in disagreement with anything required in a change 

order, another written order, or an oral order from the 

Engineer, including any direction, instruction, 

interpretation, or determination by the Engineer, the 

Contractor shall: 

1. Immediately give a signed written notice of 

protest to the Project Engineer. .. 

CP 140 (emphasis added). 

The Engineer 1s a defined term m the Standard 

Specifications: 

1-01. 3 Definitions 

Engineer - The Contracting Agency's representative 
who directly supervises the engineering and 
administration of a construction Contract. 

Project Engineer - Same as Engineer. 

CP 138. 

The Project Engineer is contractually the same person 

as the Engineer. The Engineer/Project Engineer is the only 

person whose actions trigger the Contractor's obligation to 

protest on pain of forfeiture of its right to compensation. 
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The Court of Appeals' decision improperly expands the 

obligation to protest beyond what 1-04.5 requires. The Court of 

Appeals, in its decision, stated the following: 

Nothing in these sections [1-04.5 and 1-09.11] 
narrow the procedural requirement to claims 
arising only from orders or decisions of the Project 
Engineer. 

Op. at 11 (emphasis added). 

This holding directly contradicts the express language of 

Section 1-04.5, which provides for waiver only with respect to 

orders "from the Engineer" and only requires protest of orders 

"from the Engineer." CP 140. 

The Court of Appeals' holding amounts to a blatant and 

impermissible rewriting of the parties' contract. The ruling 

effectively, ex-post facto, changes the very rules of engagement 

regarding notice that were set forth in 1-04.5 

The Court of Appeals tries to justify its rewriting of 1-

04. 5' s clear language by stating: 

Instead, the provisions [1-04.5 and 1-09.11] as a 
whole reflect an intent for the parties to seek 
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resolution of all disputes through the Project Engineer 
before filing a claim. See Realm, Inc. v. City of 

Olympia, 168 Wn. App. 1, 5, 277 P.3d 679 (2012) 
(when contract provisions seem to conflict, we will 
harmonize them to give effect to all provisions). 

Op. at 11. 

However, there must be ambiguity before there is a need 

to "harmonize" and a court is not allowed to rewrite the parties' 

contract under the guise of harmonization. Puget Sound Power 

& Light Co. v. Shulman, 84 Wn.2d 433, 439, 526 P.2d 1210, 

1214 (1974). The Supreme Court in Puget Sound Power stated 

the following: 

It is a basic rule of contract law that courts will not 
revise an agreement for the parties-or for one party, 
where the agreement itself is clear and unambiguous. 
Neither abstract justice nor the rule of liberal 
construction justifies the creation of a contract for the 
parties which they did not make themselves or the 
imposition upon one party to a contract of an 
obligation not assumed. 

Id. at 439. 

The Court of Appeals wrongful imposition on Graham of 

an obligation to protest the actions of persons other than the 

Engineer is especially egregious as the City drafted the Contract. 
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The City controlled what language it included in the Contract. If 

it wanted a broad obligation to protest any decision by any 

employee or representative of the City, it could have inserted that 

language into Standard Specification 1-04.5. Instead it chose to 

use WSDOT's standard language. 

There are good reasons why WSDOT Standard 

Specification 1-04.5 limits the obligation to protest to only 

decisions of the identified Engineer. The potential for chaos and 

disruption on a construction project if binding decisions could be 

made by any City employee or City consultant ( and protests 

required of all such decisions) is obvious. 

The Court of Appeals' claim that its holding was needed 

to harmonize sections of the Standard Specifications is false. The 

Court of Appeals was simply incorrect when it stated that nothing 

in section 1-04.5 "narrow[s] the procedural requirement to 

claims arising only from orders or decisions of the Project 

Engineer." Op. at 11. Section 1-04.5 expressly and clearly does 
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exactly that. It expressly limits the obligation to protest (and the 

punishment of waiver) to orders "from the Engineer." CP 140. 

If there is no order to protest from the Engineer, there is 

no obligation to protest under 1-04.5 and no waiver. 

Here, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that the 

November 8, 2016 letter (which it held Graham was obligated to 

protest) came not from Mulkey (who the City repeatedly 

represented to Graham was the Project Engineer) but, instead, 

from Gunther. The Court of Appeals stated the following in this 

regard: 

Graham did not immediately provide Gunther or 
Mulkey a written notice of protest related to 
Gunther's November 8, 2016 denial of its request 
for additional time and compensation before it 
completed the mT work. 

Op. at 10 (emphasis added). 

The Court of Appeals ruling, thus, changes the notice rules 

after the fact and requires protests under 1-04. 5 of persons other 

than the Engineer/Project Engineer. This is clear because the 

Court of Appeals did not find that Gunther was the Project 
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Engineer as a matter of law. It instead inexplicably found that the 

identity of the Project Engineer did not matter. 

This ruling affects all Contractors that are required to 

follow the widely used Standard Specifications and creates an 

unfair, after the fact, playing field by requiring the protest of the 

actions of potentially dozens of persons rather than the protest of 

one central decision maker, the contractually defined Project 

Engineer/Engineer. No prior Washington state appellate court 

has ever interpreted 1.04.5 in this manner - for good reason. 

This case does not raise the issue of whether notice 

provisions in a construction contract must be complied with by a 

Contractor. Instead, the issue at hand is whether a public owner 

should be allowed to unilaterally change the notice rules after the 

signing of the Contract. 

According to WSDOT itself, the Standard Specifications 

"reflect years of refinement through the literally hundreds of 

projects the Department delivers each year," are "the result of 

countless hours of development and review by both . . . internal 
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WSDOT staff as well as . . . industry partners," and "reflect the 

contracting philosophy and balance of risk-allocation that the 

Department has adopted through the years." Standard 

Specifications M4 l - l  0, 3 (2023). Perhaps because the Standard 

Specifications dictate the work of "literally hundreds" of public 

works projects every year, this Court has routinely granted 

review of controversies over their terms. See, e.g., Conway 

Constr. Co. v. City of Puyallup, 197 Wn.2d 825, 490 P.3d 221 

(202l);see alsoN OVA Contracting, Inc. v. City of Olympia, 191 

Wn.2d 854, 426 P.3d 685 (2018) (interpreting 1-04.5); see also 

Am. Safety Cas. Ins. Co. v. City of Olympia, 162 Wn.2d 762, 174 

P.3d 54 (2007); and see Mike M. Johnson, Inc. v. Spokane 

County, 150 Wn.2d 375, 78 P.3d 161 (2003). 

Even where a contract is bespoke, specific, and binds only 

the parties thereto, principles of justice and the development of 

state law frequently require this Court to weigh in on issues of 

contract interpretation. Where such a fundamental contract 

interpretation issue attaches to the Standard Specifications, 
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which govern hundreds of projects by which the flow of goods, 

services and people is accomplished in this state, the significance 

of the issue of interpretation is greatly elevated. 

Graham respectfully requests that the Court grant review 

of the issue of whether protests of the actions of persons other 

than the "Engineer" are required under Standard Specification 

Section 1-04.5 and whether summary dismissal of Graham's 

claims was proper. 

B. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW 
BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS' REFUSED 
TO CONSIDER EVIDENCE CONSIDERED BY THE 
TRIAL COURT. 

Graham disputes that it was obligated to protest orders 

issued by persons other than the Engineer. But when it became 

apparent that the parties were not in agreement regarding the 

identity of the Engineer, out of an abundance of caution, Graham 

adopted the practice of following 1-04.5 protest procedures for 

all Unilateral Change Orders (UCOs), proposed change orders 

(PCOs), and orders regarding liquidated damages (LDs), 

regardless of whether or not they came from Mulkey, from 
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Gunther, or from others. Evidence regarding this compliance was 

submitted to the trial court as part of Graham's motion for 

reconsideration of the trial court's summary judgment order. The 

trial court explicitly stated that it considered this new evidence. 

The Court has heard and considered. . . the pleadings 
and files contained in this matter, including but not 
limited to the following: ...

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