FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/27/2023 1:55 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1023324

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GRAHAM CONTRACTING, LTD.

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF FEDERAL WAY

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ryan P. McBride
WSBA No. 33280
Jennifer M. Beyerlein
WSBA No. 35754
Attorneys for Respondent City
of Federal Way

LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, Washington 98111-9402 Telephone: 206-223-7000

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Contract Required Graham To Give Notice Under Section 1-04.5 As A Prerequisite To "Any Claim," Not Just Those Arising From Orders Of The "Engineer."

The Court of Appeals' interpretation of the WSDOT Standard Specifications, incorporated into the parties' Contract, was neither incorrect nor novel. It is entirely consistent with the Contracts' plain and unambiguous terms, the policy and purpose behind contractual notice provisions, and prior case law.

1. The Court of Appeals Properly Held That Graham's Compliance With Section 1-04.5 Was Required By Sections 1-09.11 and 1-09.13.

Under settled Washington law, a contractor's failure to strictly comply with the contract's notice provisions operates as a complete bar to the contractor's claims for additional time or compensation for its work. Washington courts have repeatedly recognized and applied this principle in cases governed by the same WSDOT Standard Specifications at issue here. *NOVA Contracting, Inc. v. City of Olympia*, 191 Wn.2d 854, 857, 426 P.3d 685 (2018); *Am. Safety Cas. Ins. Co. v. City of Olympia*, 162 Wn.2d 762, 174 P.3d 54 (2007); *Mike M. Johnson, Inc. v. County of Spokane*, 150 Wn.2d 375, 386, 78 P.3d 161 (2003); *Realm, Inc. v. City of Olympia*, 168 Wn. App. 1, 5, 277 P.3d 679 (2012).

Graham's petition advances the same flawed reading of the Standard Specifications that both the trial court and the Court of Appeals rejected. Graham argues that Section 1-04.5 limited Graham's duty to protest to instances where it disagreed with "a change order, another written order, or an oral order from the Engineer." CP 140. According to Graham, no matter what other issue, dispute or problem arose during the project, if it didn't stem from "the Engineer," then it had no duty to comply with the Contract's notice and claim provisions; it could do nothing, wait until the project was over and then file suit seeking millions in extra compensation—which is what it did here. Pet. at 12-13.

The Court of Appeals' properly concluded that Graham's interpretation ignores the Contract's other provisions, which unambiguously incorporated Section 1-04.5's "procedures" and "means" as the predicate notice requirement for "any claim" that arose on the project—not just those related to the "Engineer." Op. at 10-11. This conclusion is compelled by Section 1-09.11, entitled "Disputes and Claims." It provides in relevant part:

When protests occur during a Contract, the Contractor shall pursue resolution through the Project Engineer. The Contractor shall follow the procedures outlined in Section 1-04.5.

CP 155. This provision required Graham to comply with Section 1-04.5 for any and all "protests [that] occur during a Contract." Nothing in Section 1-09.11 limits its applicability—and its

requirement to "follow the procedures ... in Section 1-04.5"—only to protests involving the Engineer's orders or actions.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, Section 1-09.11(2) likewise confirms that Section 1-09.11 independently compels compliance with Section 1-04.5. It provides in relevant part:

If the Contractor claims that additional payment is due and the Contractor has pursued and exhausted all the means provided in Section[] 1-04.5 ... to resolve a dispute, the Contractor may file a claim as provided in this section. The Contractor agrees to waive any claim for additional payment if the written notifications provided in Section 1-04.5 are not given ..., or if a claim is not filed as provided in this section. ...

CP 158. "Washington courts have repeatedly construed the word 'any' to mean 'every' and 'all." *NOVA*, 191 Wn.2d at 865-66 (cleaned up). Here, too, Section 1-09.11(2) conditioned the right to file "any claim" on a showing that Graham "pursued and exhausted" the written protest procedure in Section 1-04.5.

The Contract makes this equally and separately clear in Section 1-09.13, as noted by the Court of Appeals. A-12 n. 8.

That section, entitled "Claims Resolution," sets forth conditions precedent filing suit, and provides in relevant part:

Prior to seeking claim resolution through ... litigation, the Contractor shall proceed under the administrative procedures in Sections 1-04.5 and 1-09.11, and any Special Provision provided in the Contract for resolution of disputes. The provisions of these sections must be complied with in full, as a condition precedent to the Contractor's right to seek claim resolution through ... litigation.

CP 860. "Section 1-09.13 requires compliance with section 1-04.5 twice—it directly requires compliance with 1-04.5, and it requires compliance with section 1-09.11 which ... itself requires compliance with section 1-04.5." *Realm*, 168 Wn. App. at 6. In short, then, the unambiguous meaning of Sections 1-09.11 and 1-09.13—neither of which is tied to actions of the Engineer—incorporate Section 1-04.5's written protest requirement as a prerequisite to any claim or litigation. *See* CP 155, 158, 860.

Other provisions in the Contract confirm that compliance with Section 1-04.5 is not limited to protesting actions of the "Engineer." For example, if it came upon "Differing Site Conditions," Section 1-04.7 stated that "[n]o claim" would be

"allowed unless the Contractor has followed the procedures ... in Sections 1-04.5 and 1-09.11." CP 142. Similarly, "[w]hen others delay the Work through late performance of utility work," Section 1-07.17 instructed Graham to "adhere to the requirements of Section 1-04.5." CP 145-46. If Graham was correct, application of Section 1-04.5 to these provisions—none of which involve actions of the "Engineer"—would be nonsensical, contrary to the rules of contract interpretation.

Indeed, it is Graham, not the City, that asks the courts to rewrite the Contract to excuse its failure to comply with the Contract's notice provisions and alter the balance of risk allocation reflected in the Standard Specifications. If only the Engineer's actions triggered Section 1-04.5, entire categories of disputes would evade the Contract's notice provisions, defeating their intended purpose. The City "would be denied the benefit of advance notice and the opportunity to resolve disputes before they devolve into litigation because contractors could simply choose to litigate their disputes" Realm, 168 Wn. App. at 11.

To be sure, such a result would conflict with the well-founded policy underlying the *Mike M. Johnson* line of cases.

2. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Follows Division Two's Published Opinion In *Realm*.

Graham argues that the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the WSDOT Standard Specifications is novel and that "[n]o prior Washington state appellate court has ever interpreted 1.04.5 in this manner" Pet. at 18. Wrong. Graham conspicuously fails to discuss the 2012 published opinion in *Realm, Inc. v. City of Olympia. Realm* squarely debunks Graham's arguments in two ways. First, it holds—like the Court of Appeals here—that Sections 1-09.11 and 1-09.13 independently and separately trigger a contractor's obligation to give notice under Section 1-04.5. And, second, it confirms that this obligation applies equally to disputes that do not involve actions of the "Engineer."

The WSDOT Standard Specifications at issue in *Realm* were identical to those at issue here. Section 1-08.10(3), which governed costs upon the city's termination of the contract, required Realm to comply with "sections 1-09.11 and 1-09.12."

Realm, 168 Wn. App. at 5. While Section 1-08.10(4) provided that if the parties could not agree on payment due, "the matter will be resolved as outlined in Section 1-09.13." *Id.* Like Graham, Realm argued that Section 1-04.5 did not apply as a prerequisite to making claims under either provision.

The *Realm* court held that the contractor's compliance with Section 1-04.5 was compelled by Sections 1-09.11 and 1-09.13, because both "refer back" to Section 1-04.5:

[T]wo provisions of the contract relating to termination for public convenience [sections 1-09.11 and 1-09.13] refer back to the contract's notice provision, section 1-04.5. ... Moreover, section 1-09.13 unambiguously requires contractors to comply "in full" with sections 1-04.5 and 1-09.11 as a precondition to litigation, flatly contradicting Realm's argument that it need not comply with section 1-04.5 regarding disputes about the payment due on termination.

Id. at 6-7. The Court of Appeals' application of Section 1-04.5 by way of Sections 1-09.11 and 1-09.13 is entirely consistent with *Realm*. Because it was undisputed that Realm never gave notice under Section 1-04.5, the court concluded that it had waived its clams. *Id.* at 8. The same is true here.

Just as important, the dispute in *Realm* did not involve the "Engineer." Under the Section 1-08.10(2), the Engineer makes the decision to terminate, but Realm didn't dispute that decision. Rather, Realm disputed the payment it received after termination, and Sections 1-08.10(3) & (4) (the sections at issue in *Realm*) dictated that the Contracting Agency (i.e., the city) determined the amount of the payment; it was that determination that Realm disputed. Section 1-08.10(4) ("If the Contracting Agency and the Contractor cannot agree as to the proper amount of payment, the matter will be resolved as outlined in Section 1-09.13 ..."). Even though the dispute arose from the actions of the city, not the Engineer, the *Realm* court had no difficulty applying Section 1-04.5 by virtue of its incorporation in Sections 1-09.11 and 1-09.13. The Court of Appeals likewise had no difficulty here.

¹ The *Realm* court paraphrased Section 1-08.10 without quoting the actual Specification language. WSDOT maintains all prior versions of the Standard Specifications on its website. The 2008 version, which was in effect at the time, can be found at: https://wsdot.wa.gov/publications/manuals/fulltext/M41-10/SS2008.pdf. The relevant language has not changed.

B. The Court Of Appeals Properly Affirmed The Trial Court's Refusal To Address New Theories And Evidence Graham Raised For The First Time In A Motion For Reconsideration.

Graham's argument that the Court of Appeals improperly refused to consider evidence submitted with its CR 59 motion presents no basis for review. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of Graham's motion for reconsideration because it correctly recognized that it was based on entirely new theories—not just new evidence. Op. at 8 n. 6. "CR 59 does not permit a plaintiff to propose new theories of the case that could have been raised before entry of an adverse decision." *Wilcox*, 130 Wn. App. at 241, 122 P.3d 729 (2005) (citing *JDFJ Corp. v. Int'l Raceway, Inc.*, 97 Wn. App. 1, 970 P.2d 343 (1999)).

That fact alone, which Graham ignores, was a proper basis to affirm the denial of Graham's motion. It is well-settled that the Court of Appeals was not required to consider a new theory (or the evidence supporting it) submitted for the first time as part of a motion for reconsideration where, as here, the trial court properly exercised its discretion to deny the motion under CR 59.

Dynamic Res., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 21 Wn. App.2d 814, 825, 508 P.3d 680 (2022); Margitan v. Risk Mgmt. Inc., 2020 WL 1027968, *3 n. 2 (Wn. App. Mar. 3, 2020); Saltaire Craftsmen, LLC v. Blake, 2020 WL 6557691, *3 (Wn. App. Nov. 9, 2020).²

Graham argues the trial court actually considered its new evidence because the order denying reconsideration listed its new declarations—along with all other pleadings filed with the underlying motions for summary judgment. But there was a good reason for this. The order also corrected the court's prior summary judgment order—effectively, replacing that earlier order. Because the motion for reconsideration was the predicate for the corrected summary judgment order, CR 56(h) required the order to contain a list of all documents and evidence filed with the motion. *See* CR 56(h) ("The order ... shall designate the

² Graham argues that the case cited by the Court of Appeals "is bounded by its facts" and "applies to post-trial motions for reconsideration." Pet. at 28. Nonsense. While *JDFJ* was not a summary judgment case, the black-letter rule it applied is ubiquitously cited in cases reviewing CR 59 motions following summary judgment (with many of those cases citing *JDFJ*).

documents and other evidence called to the attention of the trial court before the order on summary judgment was entered.").

"[T]he rule requires the superior court to list all declarations presented to it, but not necessarily to consider all declarations." Boyer v. Morimoto, 10 Wn. App.2d 506, 528, 449 P.3d 285 (2019). Here, it is clear that the trial court did not consider the new evidence. At hearing, the court stated it would consider "the new information" only if it made "a determination [that] there's a basis for reconsideration under CR 59." *Id.* at 128-29. The court's order shows that there was no such basis. The court denied reconsideration without discussion, and corrected the summary judgment order to align with the same six topics raised by the City in its motion. Critically, the order did not address—or even reference—Graham's new-found theories based on change orders and liquidated damages. CP 2038-41.

Finally, this Court can easily reject Graham's claim that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015). This argument is waived. If

Graham believed *Keck* compelled the trial court to conduct a *Burnet* analysis, it needed to raise the issue below so that the trial court could have considered it. *Boyer*, 10 Wn. App.2d at 535-37. Graham didn't do that. And, even if the trial court should have conducted a *Burnet* analysis *sua sponte*, then Graham needed to challenge that ostensible error in its merits briefing to the Court of Appeals. RAP 10.3(a)(4) & (6). Graham didn't do that either. Graham raised this alleged error for the first time in its motion for reconsideration to the Court of Appeals. Too late.

Graham is wrong about *Keck* in any event. *Keck* is properly limited to situations where a trial court is asked to strike untimely evidence prior to entry of judgment—not where, as here, a party submits new evidence on reconsideration after summary judgment. *Spice v. Estate of Mathews*, 2017 WL 6337457, *4 (Wn. App. Dec. 12, 2017) ("We decline ... to extend the holding of *Keck* to the exclusion of untimely evidence submitted as part of a motion for reconsideration."). At bottom,

Graham's reliance on *Keck* to drum a basis for review is both procedurally and substantively groundless.

C. The Court Of Appeals Properly Awarded The City Its Appellate Fees.

Graham cannot explain why the Court of Appeals' fee award merits review under RAP 13.4(b). It doesn't. RCW 39.04.240 adopts RCW 4.84.250 through 4.84.280 in actions on a public works contract, and it mandates a fee award where—as here—the plaintiff "recovers nothing." RCW 4.84.270. Graham argues that an award on this basis was "premature" because it "remains to be seen whether and how much Graham will recover in this action"—pointing out that the City's motion for partial summary judgment did not end the entire case. Pet. at 29-31.

Graham's argument is baseless for two reasons. The first is procedural. The City properly made its request for fees in its answering brief. Resp. Br. at 64-65; RAP 18.1(b). Graham could have made its prematurity argument in its reply—but did not. In fact, Graham did not oppose the City's request for fees at all. The

issue was waived, and the Court of Appeals properly refused to address it for the first time on reconsideration.

The second reason is substantive. Graham argues that the City's status as the prevailing party cannot be decided until conclusion of the "entire case." Pet. at 31. It is true that an award of appellate fees may be premature where a successful appeal merely reinstates previously dismissed claims; in such cases, prevailing party status must await the outcome of the case on remand. But unlike those cases, here, Graham requested, and the trial court entered, a CR 54(b) final judgment as to all claims decided on summary judgment. CP 2043-2047.

When that occurred, Graham forfeited any argument that prevailing party status under RAP 18.1(a) and RCW 39.04.240 turns on the outcome of the "entire case." In effect, entry of the CR 54(b) judgment severed the dismissed claims from the rest of the case. And as to those claims, the CR 54(b) judgment was final. Not only did Graham "recover nothing" on those claims in

the trial court, now having lost on appeal, nothing that happens on remand can alter the City's status as prevailing party.

D. The City Is Entitled To Attorneys' Fees.

Because the Court of Appeals properly awarded the City fees on appeal, this Court should likewise award the City the fees it reasonably incurred answering this petition. RAP 18.1(j).

V. CONCLUSION

The petition should be denied.

I certify that this answer to the petition for review contains 4,824 words in compliance with RAP 18.17.